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    The Family Tree shows members of the Hoare family closely connected with the Red Lion Brewery and their descendants.
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Foreword





  For as long as I can remember, the story of the Red Lion Brewery has aroused considerable conjecture and debate amongst members of my family.

  Everyone had an opinion on it. But what were the facts? How and why did we come to be involved in such a venture in the first place? Was the brewery really, as some claimed, bigger than the family

  bank? And did it actually result in a family feud? It was to find answers for at least some of these questions that we decided back in 2005 to commission a history of the brewery. Now, thanks to

  Victoria Hutchings’ detailed research, its story can be fully revealed for the first time.




  From humble beginnings as a small Thames-side beerhouse in Tudor London, Victoria chronicles the rise and fall of the Red Lion Brewery through four centuries. At its peak in the late nineteenth

  century, the Red Lion was producing 200,000 barrels per annum, employing upwards of 200 men and owning or leasing hundreds of public houses in and around the city. Yet just a few decades later it

  had become embroiled in a desperate fight for survival.




  After 1802, when my great, great, great, great grandfather, Henry Hoare of Mitcham, bought his son George Matthew Hoare a partnership in the Red Lion Brewery, the company’s history becomes

  much more personal. Five generations of Hoares were actively involved in the brewery’s management, with, it has to be said, varying degrees of success. And the convoluted web of loans that

  developed during the course of the nineteenth century, loans that involved the bank as well as individual family members, led, perhaps inevitably, to tensions. Tensions which at times boiled over

  into openly expressed reproaches and recriminations.




  Although I initially embarked on this journey with some trepidation – after all, the book might have led to renewed dissension between the brewing and banking sides

  of the family! – in the end I thoroughly enjoyed dipping into this aspect of my family’s past. Not only has Victoria’s book laid to rest some of the rumours and myths that had

  built up around the Red Lion, but it has given both me and my family a sense of its scale and its place in brewing history. Perhaps most importantly of all, it has allowed the brewery’s

  relationship with the bank to be viewed in its proper context for the first time. For that we are all grateful.




  I hope that you will enjoy reading The Red Lion Brewery as much as I have done.




   




  Henry Hoare
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  CHAPTER ONE




  The Red Lion: owners and brewers in the early days 1492–1827




  For over a hundred years Hoare and Co. were the proprietors of a brewing business with one of the oldest pedigrees in London.1 Their brewery, the Red Lion Brewery in East Smithfield, was situated close to the river Thames between the Tower of London and Wapping. It is known to date back to the

  sixteenth century and it is believed to be of an even earlier date. It was, probably, one of the ‘beerhouses’ referred to in John Stow’s Survey of London (first published

  in 1597), which he estimates as being twenty-six in number, many of them situated along the river between Fleet Street and St Katharine’s Hospital. It is presumed2 to be the beerhouse referred to as ‘the Lyon’ in a licence given to the brewer John Merchant – a ‘Fleminge’ – to export ‘ale called

  beere’ by Henry VII in 1492.
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      Detail from the panorama of London by the Flemish artist Antony van den Wyngaerde c.1544. The earliest known extensive view of London.




      The site of The Red Lion Brewery lay to the east of the church of St Katherine’s by the Tower which was demolished in 1826.


    


  




  References to the affairs of the brewery during the Elizabethan period indicate that the Crown had an interest in the Red Lion. Tying up the details of ownership of the brewery is complicated by

  the fact that throughout the sixteenth century, and probably before that, the property was divided into two unequal parts and any documentary evidence relating to the Red Lion for the early

  sixteenth century is scarce. We have a clearer picture once we reach mid-century. In 1558 a brewer named William Long bought a one-third share of the Red Lion from John Poine, an

  ‘imbrotherer’ of London; when William died in 1597 he left it to his son Nicholas. The other two-thirds share of the Brewery had been owned by a brewer named Giles Harrison for a period

  of time well before his death in 1551. He had no heir. His widow re-married a brewer named Thomas Deane and by a legal device transferred ownership to her new husband. Deane died in 1559, also

  without children, and in 1581 the Red Lion, by an ‘inquisition post mortem’, reverted to the ownership of the Queen, who granted it to her favourite, Robert, Earl of

  Leicester.3 Harrison’s two-thirds share of the Brewery was ‘held in chief by knight’s service’, a remnant of feudal tenure

  arrangements dating back to the Conquest, when William I alienated all the land in England to the Crown.4 Leicester installed a brewer

  named Richard Bernard, who by 1594 had been superseded or joined by one William Catcher, who was granted by the Crown a 21-year monopoly to convert beer brewed at the Red Lion into vinegar. From

  these facts it appears that during this period there were two or even three brewers working at the Red Lion simultaneously, either in some kind of partnership or running two separate

  businesses.




  Lawrence Povey, a ‘gentleman’ from North Mimms in Hertfordshire (and probably not a brewer), acquired Harrison’s interest in the Brewery some time after

  the Earl of Leicester’s death in 1588. In his will dated 24th August 1614 Povey directed his executors, Justinian Povey and John Halsey, to sell his two-part share of ‘the Capital

  Messuage ... called the Red Lyon ... and ... the Wharf and Garden ... holden of His Majesty in Chief by the 20th part of a Knight’s fee ... of the yearly value of £3 6s. 8d.’ for

  the payment of debts and to raise portions for his young children. Lawrence Povey and Nicholas Long both died in 1614. Long’s widow, Margaret, and her four daughters sold his share to a

  recently naturalised immigrant brewer from Cologne named James Desmaistres in the same year. Two years later Desmaistres successfully negotiated the sale of the other freehold interest in the Red

  Lion with Povey’s executors and, with the purchase of that two-thirds share, brought the Red Lion into single ownership for the first time for perhaps a hundred years – indeed, perhaps

  for the first time ever.5




  Desmaistres was a significant figure in the history of the Red Lion for bringing the brewery into sole ownership and for introducing John Parsons as his brewer. Parsons was prominent in the

  brewing community in London, having entered into partnership with his nephew, Henry Kule, in 1597 and becoming master of the Brewers’ Company in 1622 and 1634.6 He also owned other breweries in the neighbourhood of the Red Lion. One was the Ship, which he had built on the site of his old dwelling house in East Smithfield. Another was the

  Swan’s Nest in St Mary Matfellow ‘alias Whitechapel’, which he bequeathed, along with the Red Lion, to his daughter, Jane (his only surviving child at the time of his death in

  1649), who had married another immigrant, a wealthy merchant and financier from the Netherlands named Dirick Hoste. Of John Stow’s twenty-six breweries half belonged to

  ‘strangers’ or foreigners. Dirick and Jane’s eldest son, James, inherited the Ship and their second son, Theodore, inherited the Red Lion and the Swan’s Nest after their

  father died in 1663. Theodore was childless and left the brewery to his namesake, godson and nephew, Theodore Hoste of Sandringham.7 The brewery thereafter

  formed (a small) part of the extensive estates in Norfolk, Somerset, Dorset and Devon of the Hoste and Hoste Henley family until the death of Henry Hoste Henley in 1833, when George Matthew Hoare

  and Frederick Woodbridge were able to purchase the freehold of the Red Lion from his executors.
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      Engraving from the mid-19th century depicting Sir John Parsons leaving the Red Lion brewery in his mayoral barge 1703.


    


  




  The Hoare family was connected to the Red Lion Brewery for a period of about 130 years from the time of the introduction of George Matthew into Goodwyn and Co. in 1802. Goodwyns, who were

  established brewers further downstream near Limehouse, took over the Red Lion circa 1779, from Sir John and Lady Hynde Cotton. Lady Hynde Cotton had been born Anne Parsons. It was her great-grandfather, John Parsons, who had signed an agreement with James Desmaistres in 1615 to lease the Red Lion Brewery for the sum of £44 per annum for thirty-one years from

  1616 to 1647. John Parsons was the first of four generations of the Parsons family to brew at the Red Lion and overall their association with the brewery lasted longer than that of the Hoare

  family.8
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    Sir Humphrey Parsons, twice Lord Mayor of London 1730 and 1740 and MP for the City of London. Proprietor of the Red Lion Brewery 1717-1741.


  




  





  Little detail is known of the first John Parsons of the Red Lion but his son, also named John (1639–1717), who took over the brewing business, rose to a position of some importance. He was

  commissioner for victualling the Navy between 1683 and 1688, knighted by James II in 1687, master of the Brewers’ Company in 1689 and elected Lord Mayor in 1703. He prospered in his trade. In

  1693–4 the Red Lion Brewery was assessed as the most valuable brewing establishment in London, and Sir John was reputed to be worth £200,000 at the height of his career.9 He acquired a fine country house, Reigate Priory, a move which promoted his parliamentary career by facilitating his election as MP for that borough for most of the

  period from 1685 to 1717. Though a staunch Tory he was more discreet in his Jacobite sympathies than his son and successor, Humphrey (1676–1741), and indeed his granddaughter and her husband,

  John Hynde Cotton. He was also well known in turf circles as a breeder of thoroughbreds which in his later life proved to be an extravagance he could ill afford. In 1671 John Parsons obtained the

  lucrative post of ‘excise farmer’ (tax collector) for several counties in the north of England, from which he, like most of the excise farmers, would have made a substantial

  profit.10




  On John Parsons’s death in 1717 Humphrey inherited the brewing business. Although his political career followed a pattern set by his father, he emerges as a flamboyant character whose high

  profile contributed to the fame of the Red Lion’s beer, known all over London as ‘Parsons’ black champagne’.11 Humphrey and his

  wife Sarah Crowley, daughter of the City magnate and prominent Tory Sir Ambrose Crowley, continued to live at Reigate Priory, which they improved and embellished to a very

  high standard.12 In London they lived in a house near the Brewery, perhaps even his father’s old house in Well Close. He was MP for Harwich and the

  City of London and an unequivocal supporter, as was his wife’s family, of the Old Pretender, which probably prompted his frequent visits to France. On one of these, in 1730, he found himself

  on a hunting trip with King Louis XV. The French king is said to have admired his horse and asked the price, to which Parsons is said to have replied that his horse was beyond any price other than

  His Majesty’s acceptance. This scenario was less remarkable than it might appear since Sir John had acquired his thoroughbred Thoulouse Barb from the stable of the Sun King and had

  successfully bred from him. The upshot was that the king accepted the horse and Humphrey, in return, was granted the privilege of supplying the French court with his ‘black champagne’.

  The following year another ‘Royal’ horse was presented to the Parsons stables along with a portrait of the king set in diamonds. This story was known to contemporaries13 and must have lent a certain glamour to the name of Parsons.




  Humphrey was twice elected Lord Mayor (in 1730 and 1740) despite being one of the Old Pretender’s chief correspondents in London, but he was a rich man and no doubt many of his supporters

  were grateful to escape the financial demands of high office themselves. Richard Hoare was sheriff during Parsons’s mayoralty and wrote a journal of his shrieval year of which he had a small

  number printed.14 In it he described Parsons’s address to the Court of Common Council on 22nd October 1740, in which he expressed surprise at being

  elected again to ‘that great office’ but nevertheless acceded to the wishes of the court, whereupon Sir William Calvert (a prominent City brewer) rose up and proposed the following

  motion: ‘That the thanks of this court be given to the Rt Hon. Humphrey Parsons Esq., Lord Mayor elect, for accepting for a second time the laborious and expensive

  office of the Mayoralty.’ Five months later, on 20th March 1741, Hoare noted that Parsons was extremely ill; the following evening at 6 p.m. he died. Hoare wrote in his journal that Parsons

  was a man who had been universally beloved ‘for his good nature and open behaviour and very popular among the common people for his great affability and condescension’.
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      Details from John Rocque’s ‘Plan of the Cities of London and Westminster...’ showing ‘Parson’s Brewhouse’. The map was published in

      1747 and dedicated to Alderman Sir Richard Hoare, Lord Mayor the previous year.


    


  




  Humphrey Parsons changed his will shortly before he died. In his original will, dated 1725, he had instructed Sarah to sell the Brewery after his death and from the proceeds provide herself with

  an annuity of £400. In 1740 he revised his instruction in a codicil and directed that Sarah should carry on the trade of brewing until their son, John, came of age. Perhaps profits had

  increased to such an extent as to change his view of the Brewery or perhaps his son had shown encouraging signs of aptitude for the trade in the intervening period between the two wills. As it

  turned out, however, the responsibility of carrying on the business fell on his widow as it appears John did not live to see his majority and thus, until her death in 1759, the business was

  registered in the name of Sarah Parsons with a new lease in her name granted by James Hoste.




  Support for the Stuart cause was deeply ingrained and widespread in the Parsons family circle. Humphrey’s brother-in-law, John Crowley, had been imprisoned after the 1715 rebellion and his

  sister-in-law, Lettice Crowley, had married Sir John Hynde Cotton, 3rd Baronet, of Madingley Hall in Cambridgeshire, a leading Tory in the House of Commons and one of the last of the active English

  Jacobites, who was widely believed to have collaborated with the rebels of the ’45. In a sartorial display of loyalty he had a suit of tartan made for himself in Edinburgh in

  1744.15 Humphrey and Sarah’s daughter, Anne, married Cotton’s son and heir, John, her first cousin, who succeeded his

  father in 1752 and combined his career as an MP with that of brewer after the death of his mother-in-law, Sarah. Sir John (the 4th Baronet) was active as a brewer at the Red Lion for a number of

  years; on 21st April 1763 Berrow’s Worcester Journal carried the following announcement: ‘Last Monday his Royal Highness the Duke of York dined with Sir John Hind Cotton at the

  Brewhouse in St Katharine’s upon Beef steaks broiled on the coals in the Furnace Hole in the said Brewhouse.’ In 1777 Sir John became seriously ill with asthma and was simultaneously

  beset with money worries and by 1780 he had retired from Parliament. At some point during this period the Brewery was sold.




  Henry Goodwyn Senior and Henry Goodwyn Junior were partners in a brewery at 7 Ratcliff Cross which is shown on John Rocque’s Plan of the Cities of London and Westminster,

  published in 1747. Their names appear as proprietors there in 1772 in the Sun Life insurance records, and thereafter in the London trade directories until 1778. In 1779 the new proprietors of the

  Red Lion Brewery at 21 Lower East Smithfield were ‘Perry and Maddox Goodwyn’. By 1780 Henry Goodwyn and Co. were in business there alone. The name of Perry in partnership with Goodwyn

  re-appears on one occasion in 1790,16 and from 1795 Goodwyn was joined by John Thornton and William Skinner.17

  In 1802 the name of Hoare was added and for three years only the Brewery partnership was listed as ‘Goodwyn, Skinner, Thornton and Hoare’18.

  Skinner and Thornton had gone by 1810 and the Brewery was listed as ‘Henry Goodwyn and Co.’ or ‘Goodwyn and Co.’ until 1824. George Matthew Hoare had entered the Brewery in

  1802 but after 1804 his name does not appear in the title of the firm, in the published lists, until 1825 when that year’s Post Office Directory carried the entry ‘Hoare and Co.,

  Brewers’ for 21 Lower East Smithfield for the first time.




  East Smithfield covered an area south of Aldgate and east of the Tower of London which reached down to the shoreline of the Thames. In monastic times it was dominated by

  the Priory of the Holy Trinity and the Abbey of Our Lady of Graces, and, until the construction of St Katharine Docks in 1827, the Hospital of St Katharine and its precinct, which survived the

  dissolution of the monasteries. It lay outside the city wall and outside the jurisdiction of the City of London and the control of the trade guilds. The religious institutions were in practice

  largely self-governing; this independence encouraged the unfettered growth of commercial activity in their immediate neighbourhood and acted as a magnet for migrant workers, in particular

  merchants, craftsmen and religious refugees from overseas. For example, foreigners, forbidden to trade within the City of London, could dock at St Katharine’s Quay. Foreign settlers were

  dominated by the Flemish, in particular weavers and brewers. The brewer at the Red Lion in 1492 was described as a ‘Fleminge’. James Desmaistres was of Dutch parentage and his

  son-in-law Dirick Hoste was also Dutch.19
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    Detail from Richard Horwood’s ‘Map of London, Westminster and Southwark’ 1799, showing the Red Lion Brewery under the proprietorship of Goodwyn, Skinner

    and Thornton.


  




  





  Sixteenth-century deeds refer to several beerhouses or breweries situated close to the Red Lion: the Hartshorn, the Katherine Whele, the Three Kings and the King’s Brewhouse. The Katherine

  Whele and the Three Kings belonged to the Abbey of Our Lady of Graces and, according to contemporary descriptions, lay close to the Red Lion with their own wharves on the Thames. It is possible

  they were absorbed into the Red Lion after the dissolution to create the 3-acre site which formed the core of the modern brewery. The Hartshorn was situated further back from the river, adjacent to

  the Victualling Office (where the Royal Mint now stands). This was decommissioned as a government brewery supplying the navy in 1730 and converted into a warehouse. The King’s Brewhouse,

  which is shown just west of Parsons’ Brewery on Rocque’s map of 1747, survived until the creation of St Katharine Docks in 1827, which brought wholesale change to

  the area. The old hospital and its ancient chapel were demolished, the winding lanes and quaint ramshackle wooden buildings of its precinct disappeared and more than 11,000 people were displaced to

  make way for the new inland dock with its extensive warehousing. Miraculously the Red Lion and its wharf, Alderman Parson’s Stairs,20 were spared

  and continued in business for another hundred years, the sole survivor of the clutch of breweries in the immediate vicinity. When it was put up for sale in 1934 it was described in the particulars

  as ‘an island property’ and from the accompanying plan it is obvious why. After 1827 the Red Lion was hemmed in by water on all sides. To the west and north lay St Katharine and London

  docks, to the east Hermitage and Wapping basins and to the south the river. Dissecting these stretches of water were Nightingale Lane, Burr Street and Lower East Smithfield, which formed the

  immediate boundaries of the Red Lion.




  





  CHAPTER TWO




  Brewing at the Red Lion 1549–1802




  Prior to the introduction of hop growing in the early sixteenth century, the staple drink in England was ale, made from fermented malt liquor and

  water. Herbs and plants such as ground ivy were added to give flavour, and oat malt and wheat malt were used to supplement barley malt. Hops had been grown for centuries in Germany and the Low

  Countries and were introduced into England as an agricultural crop around 1520. Hopped beer had been imported for a considerable time before this date, presumably to satisfy the demands of the

  ‘Dutch’ immigrant community, and, using imported hops, the brewing of beer rather than ale increased in popularity, especially with the foreign brewers who were not freemen of London.

  The addition of hops was not merely a matter of taste. It was discovered that hops, when boiled for some time, produced a preservative as well as the bitter flavouring characteristic of beer. The

  twenty-six beerhouses described by John Stow were ‘common brewers’ as opposed to publican brewers (roughly speaking wholesale as opposed to retail brewers). As such, they brewed to sell

  to non-brewing publicans and therefore needed a product which had lasting qualities. A similar requirement came from the export trade, the provisioning of ships and the supply of the Tudor army.

  Although ale was exported from the ‘Lyon’ at the end of the fifteenth century, by the mid-sixteenth century Giles Harrison was given licence to export forty tuns of beer to Flanders. At

  that time, it is generally assumed, most of the trade was in the hands of the publican brewers and even the largest of the common brewers were modest in size.21 That said, forty tuns of beer for export was a considerable quantity – nearly 10,000 gallons, enough to provision a ship of 150 men for two months.22
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